
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 

 

                               Case No.: 1:19-CV-24704-MARTINEZ-OTAZO-REYES 

 

BLUEGREEN VACATIONS UNLIMITED, INC., a 

Florida corporation; and BLUEGREEN 

VACATIONS CORPORATION, a Florida 

corporation, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

 

v. 

 

THE MONTGOMERY LAW FIRM, LLC, a 

Missouri limited liability company; 

MONTGOMERY & NEWCOMB, LLC, a Missouri 

limited liability company, M. SCOTT 

MONTGOMERY, ESQ., an individual, W. TODD 

NEWCOMB, ESQ., an individual; PRINCIPAL 

TRANSFER GROUP, LLC, a Missouri limited 

liability company, JASON LEVI HEMINGWAY, an 

individual, and CLS, INC. d/b/a ATLAS 

VACATION REMEDIES and also d/b/a 

PRINCIPAL TRANSFER GROUP, a Missouri 

corporation; and SQUARE ONE DEVELOPMENT 

GROUP, INC., 

 

Defendants. 

_____________________________________________/ 

 
DEFENDANT SQUARE ONE DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC.’S ANSWER, 

DEFENSES, AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES TO PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT – 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 Defendant Square One Development Group, Inc. (“Square One”), by its undersigned counsel, 

hereby files its Answer, Defenses, and Affirmative Defenses to Plaintiffs Bluegreen Vacations 

Unlimited, Inc.’s and Bluegreen Vacations Corporation’s (“Bluegreen”) Complaint (“Complaint”) 
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[Doc. 1], and states as follows:1 

              ANSWER 

     Introduction 

 1. Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 1 and demands strict proof thereof.   

2. Square One  lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the 

truth of the allegations in Paragraph 2 and therefore denies them and demands strict proof thereof. 

 3. Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 3 and demands strict proof thereof.

 4. Paragraph 4 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required. Section 

721.10 of the Florida Statutes is a 10-day right of rescission which is a clear consumer protection 

measure to enable customers with buyer’s remorse an automatic right of rescission, due to the 

high-pressure sales tactics known to pervade the timeshare industry. Contrary to Bluegreen’s 

allegation, the statute does not limit a customer’s ability to negotiate an exit voluntarily with the 

timeshare company after the passage of ten (10) days.   

 5. Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 5 and demands strict proof thereof.

 6.    Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 6 and demands strict proof thereof. 

 7.        Defendant is without knowledge of advertisements published by other Defendants.  

 8.     Square One admits that the advertisement in Paragraph 8 was published on the 

https://squaronehelp.com website and denies the remainder of Paragraph 8.  

 
1    Bluegreen’s Complaint frequently makes allegations against “Defendants” collectively without 

specifying which Defendant’s conduct is the subject of the allegation, or makes allegations 

specifically against Defendants other than Square One.  Square One herein answers only for itself.  

However, if the Court determine’s that allegations directed to other Defendants apply to Square 

One, Square One hereby denies them and demands strict proof thereof.  
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 9.      Paragraph 9 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square One 

denies the allegations in Paragraph 9 directed to “non-lawyer TPE Defendants” and demands strict 

proof thereof.  Should the Court determine that other allegations in Paragraph 9 are directed at 

Square One, Square One denies them and demands strict proof thereof.  

 10.    Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 10 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 10 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.   

11.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 11 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 11 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

12.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 12 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 12 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

13. Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 13 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 13 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 14.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 14 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 14 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

15.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 15 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 15 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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16.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 16 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 16 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

17.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 17 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 17 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

18.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 18 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 18 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

19.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 19 directed to “each Defendant” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 19 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.  

In addition, Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 1 is hearsay, speculative, and probative of nothing, and Square One 

denies its contents and demands strict proof thereof. 

20.   Square One admits that at the time of the Complaint, it had solicited timeshare owners 

interested in exiting their timeshares, and offered to assist them with finding a legal means of 

exiting their timeshare agreements, which sometimes included Bluegreen Owners.  Square One 

denies it solicited Bluegreen owners specifically and denies the remainder of Paragraph 20 directed 

to “the TPE Defendants” and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other 

allegations in Paragraph 20 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and 

demands strict proof thereof. 

21.   Square One admits that prior to March 1, 2019, it had disseminated some information 

and referral forms provided by Principal Transfer Group (“PTG”) regarding the Montgomery Law 
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Defendants at its presentations, but is without knowledge whether or not the forms were created 

or approved by the Montgomery Law Defendants.   Square One denies the remaining allegations 

of Paragraph 21 directed to “the TPE Defendants” and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the 

Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 21 are directed to Square One, Square One 

denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

22.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 22 directed to “each Defendant” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 22 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.   

23.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 23 directed to “the Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.   Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 23 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

24.   Square One admits that prior to March 1, 2019, it had disseminated some referral 

forms provided by Principal Transfer Group for the Montgomery Law Defendants, but is without 

knowledge whether or not the forms were provided by the Montgomery Law Defendants.  Square 

One denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 24 directed to “the TPE Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.   Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 24 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

25.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 25 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

25 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

26.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 26 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

26 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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27.  Square One  lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth 

of the allegations in Paragraph 27 and therefore denies them and demands strict proof thereof. 

28.  Paragraph 28 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required, and in any 

event is not applicable to Square One.  Should the Court determine Paragraph 28 is directed to 

Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

29.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 29 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

29 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

30.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 30 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

30 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

31.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 31 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

31 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

32.  Square One denies that it engages in false advertising and is without knowledge of the 

allegations directed to other Defendants Square One denies the remaining allegations in paragraph 

32 directed to “the TPE Defendants” and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine 

any other allegations in Paragraph 32 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations 

and demands strict proof thereof. 

33.  Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine Paragraph 33 is directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations 

and demands strict proof thereof. 
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34.  Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine Paragraph 34 is directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations 

and demands strict proof thereof. 

35.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 35 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof. Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

35 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

36.  Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine Paragraph 36 is directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations 

and demands strict proof thereof. 

37.  Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine Paragraph 37 is directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations 

and demands strict proof thereof. 

38.   Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine Paragraph 38 is directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations 

and demands strict proof thereof. 

39.   Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine Paragraph 39 is directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations 

and demands strict proof thereof. 

40.  Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine Paragraph 40 is directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations 

and demands strict proof thereof. 
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41.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 41 directed to “the Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 41 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

42.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 42 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 42 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

43.  Square One admits that prior to March 1, 2020, it advertised its time share exit services 

on a website (operated by a third party), and authorized a third party to conduct telemarketing and 

direct mail marketing aimed at getting time share owners to attend an in- person sales presentation, 

(which included but was not specifically targeted to Bluegreen Owners) and denies the remainder 

of Paragraph 43 and demands strict proof thereof.  Square one is without knowledge of allegations 

in Paragraph 43 directed to other defendants. Should the Court determine any other allegations in 

Paragraph 43 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict 

proof thereof.  

44.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 44 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof. Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

44 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

45.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 45 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof. Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

45 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

46.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 46 directed to “the Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 46 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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47.  Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine any allegations in Paragraph 47 are directed to Square One, Square One denies 

the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

48.  Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine any allegations in Paragraph 48 are directed to Square One, Square One denies 

the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

49.  Square One is without knowledge of allegations directed to other defendants.  Should 

the Court determine any allegations in Paragraph 49 are directed to Square One, Square One denies 

the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

50.  Square One admits that it owned, but denies that it operated or controlled, the web 

domain www.squareonehelp.com at the time of the Complaint.    

51.  Square one admits that the web domain www.squareonehelp.com has included the 

statements listed in Paragraphs 51 i-vii. 

52.   Square One admits that the Better Business Bureau (“BBB”) at one time posted the 

statements in Paragraph 52.  However, Square One denies the accuracy of the statements attributed 

to the BBB in Paragraph 52 and demands strict proof thereof.     

53.   Square One admits that at the time of the Complaint, it conducted in-person 

presentations to timeshare owners and that Bluegreen owners attended such sales presentations, 

but denies that it made sales presentations specifically targeted to Bluegreen Owners.   Square One 

denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 53 directed to “the TPE Defendants” and demands 

strict proof thereof.    Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 53 are directed 

to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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54.  Square One admits that at the time of the Complaint, it had employees who travelled 

to make sales presentations to timeshare owners, and denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 

54 directed to “the TPE Defendants” and demands strict proof thereof.   Should the Court 

determine any other allegations in Paragraph 54 are directed to Square One, Square One denies 

the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

55.    Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 55 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

referenced in Paragraph 54, and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any 

other allegations in Paragraph 55 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations 

and demands strict proof thereof. 

56.    Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 56 directed to the “TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

56 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

57.    Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 57 and demands strict proof thereof. 

58.    Square One was a member of the American Resort Development Association 

(“ARDA”) between October 2018 and March 2019, when ARDA terminated its membership 

without cause.  Square One denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 58 and demands strict 

proof thereof.   

59.   Admitted. 

60.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 60 and demands strict proof thereof. 

61.  Square One admits ARDA issued a “Consumer Alert” with the statements in Paragraph 

61, but denies the accuracy of the statements attributed to ARDA in Paragraph 61 and demands 

strict proof thereof.   
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62.  Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 62 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

62 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

63.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 63 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

63 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

64.   Square One denies the allegations in Paragraph 64 directed to “the TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

64 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

65.   Square One admits that at the time of the Complaint, it advertised the availability of 

its presentations through telemarketing, and denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 65.  

Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 65 are directed to Square One, 

Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

66.   Square One admits that the purpose of its telemarketing efforts was to inform 

timeshare owners about their upcoming, nearby presentations, and denies the remainder of 

Paragraph 66 and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations 

in Paragraph 66 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict 

proof thereof. 

67.   Square One admits that at the time of the Complaint, it called timeshare owners, 

including Bluegreen Owners, offering invitations to nearby presentations with a free meal.  Square 

one denies the remainder of Paragraph 67 and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court 

determine any other allegations in Paragraph 67 are directed to Square One, Square One denies 

the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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68.   Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 68 directed to “each TPE Defendant” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

68 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

69.   Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 69 directed to “each TPE Defendant” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

69 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

70.   Square One denies that any mailer sent on its behalf was false and misleading.  Should 

the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 70 are directed to Square One, Square One 

denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

71.   Square One admits that the mailer attached as Exhibit 3 was sent on its behalf by a 

marketing company, but denies it is or was false and misleading. 

72.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 72 directed to the “TPE Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

72 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

73.  Square One admits that it has engaged in direct mail marketing, and denies the 

remainder of Paragraph 73 including that any direct mail sent on its behalf had false statements, 

and demands strict proof thereof. Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

73 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

74.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 74 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 74 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

75.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 75 and demands strict proof thereof.   
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76.  Square One admits it filed the lawsuit attached as Exhibit 4 to Plaintiffs’ Complaint, 

which speaks for itself.  Square one denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 76 and demands 

strict proof thereof. 

77.   Paragraph 77 does not require any response but to avoid any doubt, Square One states 

that the advertisements described in paragraphs 5, 8, 20, 44-46, 48, 51, 52, 56-60, 67, 70, and 71-

73 are false and misleading.    

78.   Paragraph 78 does not require any response, and is directed toward another Defendant. 

Should the Court determine any allegation against other Defendants in Paragraph 78 is directed to 

Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

79.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 79 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 79 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

80.   Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 80 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 80 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

81.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 81 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 81 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

82. Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 82 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 82 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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83.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 83 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 83 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

84.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 84 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 84 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

85.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 85 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 85 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

86.  Square One lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth 

of the allegations about the impact of “defaulting Bluegreen Owners” and “non-defaulting 

Bluegreen Owners” and otherwise denies the allegations of Paragraph 86, and demands strict proof 

thereof. 

87.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 87 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 87 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

88.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 88 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 88 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

89.   Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 89 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 89 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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90.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 90 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.   Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 90 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

91.  Paragraph 91 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  However, 

Square One denies that Bluegreen has the right to any relief under the Lanham Act or the Florida 

Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act.  

92.  Square One is without knowledge of Plaintiff’s status and therefore denies Paragraph 

92.  

93.   Square One is without knowledge of Plaintiff’s status and therefore denies Paragraph 

93. 

94.   Square One is without knowledge of Defendant Montgomery Law’s status and 

therefore denies Paragraph 94. 

95.    Square One is without knowledge of Defendant M&N Law’s status and therefore 

denies Paragraph 95. 

96.    Square One is without knowledge of Defendant Montgomery’s status and therefore 

denies Paragraph 96.  

97.   Square One is without knowledge of Defendant Newcomb’s status and therefore 

denies Paragraph 97. 

98.    Admitted. 

99.   Square One is without knowledge of Defendant CLS’s status and therefore denies 

Paragraph 99. 

100.   Square One is without knowledge of Defendant Principal Transfer Group’s status 

and therefore denies Paragraph 100. 
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101.    Square One is without knowledge of Defendant Principal Transfer Group’s status 

and therefore denies Paragraph 101. 

102.   Square One is without knowledge of Defendant PTG’s and CLS’s status and 

therefore denies Paragraph 102. 

103.   Paragraph 103 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One admits that prior to March 1, 2019, it had an oral agreement with PTG to terminate the time 

share interests of Square One clients in an expedited manner, denies the remainder of Paragraph 

103 and demands strict proof thereof. 

104.   Square One denies that it referred clients to the Montgomery Law Defendants.  

Square one admits that prior to March 1, 2019, Square One had an oral agreement with PTG to 

terminate the time share interests of Square One clients, using legal counsel if necessary, and 

disseminated some referral forms at PTG’s direction for the Montgomery Law Defendants. Square 

One denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 104 and demands strict proof thereof.  

105.   Square One is without knowledge of Defendant Hemingway’s status and therefore 

denies Paragraph 105. 

Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

106.   Paragraph 106 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  However, 

Square One Denies the Complaint states a claim under the Lanham Act and reserves the right to 

contest subject matter jurisdiction over any of Plaintiffs’ claims. 

107.   Square One admits that it directs advertisements at consumers across the country, 

including consumers in the State of Florida, that its websites are freely accessible from Florida, 

and that it conducts “road shows” and other marketing in the State of Florida, and denies the 

remaining allegations of Paragraph 107 and demands strict proof thereof. 
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108.    Paragraph 108 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required. Square 

One denies that the Court has personal jurisdiction over it, but acknowledges it waived that defense 

by not raising it in its Rule 12 motion. 

109.    Paragraph 109 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies venue is proper in this District but acknowledges it waived that defense by not raising 

it in its Rule 12 motion.  Square One denies it caused any harm to the consuming public or 

Bluegreen in Florida or anywhere else and denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 109 and 

demands strict proof thereof. 

110.    Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 110 and demands strict proof thereof.   

111.   Paragraph 111 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required. Square 

One lacks knowledge or information about Bluegreen’s actions to form a belief as to the truth of 

Bluegreen’s factual allegations, but denies that attorney’s fees are recoverable against Defendant 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117 and the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, and other 

statutes, and demands strict proof thereof.  

     COUNT I 

Violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1) 

(against Hemingway, PTG, and CLS) 

 112 - 123.   Square One is not a named Defendant in Count I and therefore will not address 

the specific allegations against the other Defendants in Paragraphs 112-123 or the Wherefore 

Clause in Count I.  Should the Court determine any allegations against other Defendants in 

Paragraphs 112-123 or the Wherefore Clause in Count I are directed to Square One, Square One 

denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.    
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     COUNT II 

Violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1) 

         (Against Square One) 

 124.    Square One repeats its responses to paragraphs 1-7, 9-49, 53-56, and 62-111 above 

as if fully set forth herein.  

 125.   Paragraph 125 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required. However, 

Square One denies making false or misleading advertisements regarding its own products and 

services, and denies Plaintiffs state a claim under the Lanham Act, and demands strict proof 

thereof. 

 126.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 126 and demands strict proof thereof.   

 127.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 127 and demands strict proof thereof.   

 128.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 128 directed to Square One and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations regarding 

“Defendants” in Paragraph 128 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and 

demands strict proof thereof. 

 129.   Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 129 and demands strict proof thereof.   

 130.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 130 directed to Square One and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations regarding 

“Defendants” in Paragraph 130 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and 

demands strict proof thereof. 

 131.  Paragraph 131 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.   However, 

Square One Denies the Complaint states a valid claim or that Plaintiffs can prove any violation 
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under the Lanham Act, and demands strict proof of every element of any alleged Lanham Act 

violation or claim. 

 132.  Paragraph 132 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.   Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 132 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 132 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 133.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 133 directed to Square One and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations regarding 

“Defendants” referenced in Paragraphs 132 and 133 are directed to Square One, Square One denies 

the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.  

134.  Paragraph 134 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required. Square 

One denies it engaged in any conduct entitling Plaintiffs to any relief under 15 U.S.C. § 1117 and 

demands strict proof thereof.   Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 134 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 135.  Paragraph 135 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies it engaged in any conduct entitling Plaintiffs to any relief under 15 U.S.C. § 1116 or 

1125(a).  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 135 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 Square One denies Plaintiffs’ Right to any of the relief sought in the WHEREFORE Clause 

for Count II. 

     COUNT III 

Contributory False Advertising in Violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. Section 1125(a)(1) 

   (against the Montgomery Law Defendants) 
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 136-146.   Square One is not a named Defendant in Count III and therefore will not address 

the specific allegations against the other Defendants in Paragraphs 136-146 or the Wherefore 

Clause in Count III.  Should the Court determine any allegations against other Defendants in 

Paragraphs 136-146 or the Wherefore Clause in Count III are directed to Square One, Square One 

denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

    COUNT IV 

  Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations 

      (against all Defendants)  

 147.    Square One repeats its responses to Paragraphs 1-111 above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

 148.   Paragraph 148 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required. However, 

Square One denies that Plaintiffs’ Complaint states a claim for, or that they can prove the elements 

of, tortious interference with contractual relations, and demands strict proof thereof.   

 149.     Square One lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the 

truth of the allegations and therefore denies them and demands strict proof thereof. 

 150.      Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 150 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 150 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 151.      Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 151 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 151 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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 152.      Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 152 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 152 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 153.     Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 153 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 153 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 154.     Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 154 and directed to “Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

154 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof 

thereof. 

 155.     Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 155 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 155 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 156.     Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 156 and directed to “Defendants” 

and demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 

156 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof 

thereof. 

 157.     Paragraph 157 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 157 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 157 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.  

158.     Paragraph 158 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 158 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 
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thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 158 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.  

159.    Paragraph 159 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 159 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 159 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 160.     Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 160 directed to Square One and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations directed at 

“Defendants” in Paragraph 159 and 160 are directed to Square One, Square One denies the 

allegations and demands strict proof thereof.   

 161.     Paragraph 161 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 161 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 161 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 162.    Paragraph 162 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 162 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 162 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 163.     Paragraph 163 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.   Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 163 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 163 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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 Square One denies Plaintiffs’ right to any of the relief sought in the WHEREFORE Clause 

for Count IV, including but not limited to Plaintiffs’ listing of “punitive damages.”   

                   COUNT V 

 Civil Conspiracy to Commit Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations 

    (against all Defendants) 

 164.   Square One repeats its responses to Paragraphs 1-111 and 147-163 above as if fully 

set forth herein. 

 165.   Paragraph 165 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  However, 

Square One denies that Plaintiffs state a claim for or can prove the elements of civil conspiracy to 

commit tortious interference with contractual relations against Square One, and demands strict 

proof thereof.  Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 165 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof. Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 165 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 166.    Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 166 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 166 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.

 167.    Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 167 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 167 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 168.    Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 168 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 168 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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 169.    Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 169 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 169 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.

 170.    Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 170 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 170 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 171.   Paragraph 171 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 171 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 171 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 172.    Paragraph 172 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 172 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 172 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 173.    Paragraph 173 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 173 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 173 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 174.   Paragraph 174 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 174 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 174 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 
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 175.   Paragraph 175 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 175 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 175 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 Square One denies Plaintiffs’ right to any of the relief sought in the WHEREFORE Clause 

for Count V, including but not limited to Plaintiffs’ listing of “punitive damages.” 

                   COUNT VI 

Violations of Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act 

                  (against all Defendants) 

176.      Square One repeats its responses to paragraphs 1-111 as if fully set forth herein.   

 177.   Paragraph 177 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.   

However, Square One denies Plaintiffs state a claim under or can prove a violation of Section 

501.211, Fla. Stat., and demands strict proof thereof. 

 178.   Paragraph 178 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.   

However, Square One denies Plaintiffs state a claim under or can prove a violation of the Florida 

Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”), and demands strict proof thereof. 

 179.  Paragraph 179 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  However, 

Square One denies Plaintiffs state a claim under or can prove a violation of the Florida Deceptive 

and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”), and demands strict proof thereof. 

 180.  Admitted as to Square One. 

 181.  Paragraph 181 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 181 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 
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thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 181 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 182.   Paragraph 182 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  However, 

Square One denies Plaintiffs state a claim under or can prove a violation of Section 501.211, Fla. 

Stat.   

 183.  Paragraph 183 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  However, 

Square One denies Plaintiffs state a claim under or can prove a violation of Section 501.211, Fla. 

Stat. and demands strict proof thereof. 

 184.   Paragraph 184 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 184 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 184 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 185.   Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 185 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 185 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 186.   Square One denies the allegations of Paragraph 186 directed to “Defendants” and 

demands strict proof thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 186 

are directed to Square One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof. 

 187.   Paragraph 187 contains legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Square 

One denies the allegations of Paragraph 187 directed to “Defendants” and demands strict proof 

thereof.  Should the Court determine any other allegations in Paragraph 187 are directed to Square 

One, Square One denies the allegations and demands strict proof thereof.  
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Square One denies Plaintiffs’ Right to any of the relief sought in the WHEREFORE Clause 

for Count VI.   

DEFENSES AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

FIRST DEFENSE 

Failure to State a Claim Under Lanham Act and FDUTPA – No Injury Alleged 

 Bluegreen’s failure to allege actual injury traceable to any act by Square One renders the 

Complaint insufficient as a matter of law, under the Lanham Act and the Florida Unfair and 

Deceptive Trade Practices Act. Plaintiffs have not been damaged in any amount or manner by 

reason of any act alleged against Square One in the Complaint, nor have Plaintiffs provided nor 

can they provide evidence thereof.  Therefore, the relief prayed for in the Complaint cannot be 

granted. 

         SECOND DEFENSE 

Failure to State a Claim Under Lanham Act and FDUTPA– 

Lack of Advertising Injury and Causation 

 To the extent Plaintiffs claim damages for the non-payment of sums due under promissory 

notes by Square One’s clients, they have failed to allege or establish proximate causation.  

Plaintiffs   argue that  but for Square One’s deceitful advertisements, their timeshare owners would 

not have hired Square One and would not have ceased making payments.  This, however, is too 

remote a connection to satisfy the Lanham Act’s or FDUTPA’s proximate causation requirement.  

Specifically, none of the advertisements at issue direct the consumer to cease making payments 

nor are the allegedly false or misleading statements intended to induce such an action. Thus, 

Plaintiffs’ injuries, if any, do not flow directly from any alleged deception attributable to Square 

One’s advertisements.   
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      THIRD DEFENSE 

Failure to State a Claim Under Lanham Act and FDUTPA –  

      Lack of Standing 

 Plaintiffs’ interests, alleged damages, and alleged injuries do not fall within the zone of 

protected interests under the Lanham Act and the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices 

Act. 

FOURTH DEFENSE 

Failure to State a Claim Under Lanham Act and FDUTPA -- 

 Lack of Proximate Causation 

 Plaintiffs’ claims under the Lanham Act and the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade 

Practices Act are barred because Plaintiffs cannot identify any “unwitting Bluegreen owners” who 

were lured into hiring Square One based upon allegedly false and misleading advertising. 

         FIFTH DEFENSE 

   Failure to State a Claim for Tortious Interference With Contractual   

           Relations – No Interference, No Causation, and No Injury  

 Bluegreen’s failure to allege or provide evidence of any actual injury traceable to an act of 

interference by Square One renders Count IV insufficient as a matter of law.  Intentional 

interference with contractual relations under Florida law requires intentional and unjustified 

interference with a known contractual relationship and damage to the plaintiff as a result of a 

breach of the relationship.  Bluegreen has not alleged, and cannot prove, that Square One 

instructed, deceived, induced, persuaded, interfered, or otherwise caused any Bluegreen Owner to 

breach his or her agreement with Bluegreen, and therefore cannot establish the necessary elements 

of Count IV under Florida law.  To the contrary, Square One’s agreements with every client require 

Case 1:19-cv-24704-JEM   Document 74   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/14/2020   Page 28 of 36



29 
 

them to remain current with all of their timeshare agreement obligations.  Further, (1) Square One 

was acting as the agent for its clients (including Bluegreen Owners) and cannot be liable for 

tortious interference with its principal’s contract, and (2) any timeshare owner who retained Square 

One was predisposed to seek an exit from their timeshare agreements.  

      SIXTH DEFENSE  

No Independent Civil Conspiracy to Tortiously Interfere with Contractual              

Relations Under Florida Law  – No Underlying Tort  

Bluegreen fails to allege and cannot prove a claim for “civil conspiracy to tortiously 

interfere with contractual relations” by Square One in Count V because it cannot establish the 

underlying alleged tortious action.  The elements of a civil conspiracy are (a) an agreement 

between two or more parties, (b) to do an unlawful act or to do a lawful act by unlawful means, 

(c) the doing of some overt act in pursuance of the conspiracy, and (d) damage to plaintiff as a 

result of the acts performed pursuant to the conspiracy.  A civil conspiracy cannot exist without a 

specific agreement to commit and the actual commission of the underlying tort of “intentional 

interference.”  Bluegreen’s tortious interference claim is deficient because Bluegreen cannot prove 

the underlying tort for the reasons expressed in Square One’s Fifth Defense, and as such it cannot 

serve as the underlying basis for a “conspiracy.”   

             SEVENTH DEFENSE 

No Independent Civil Conspiracy to Tortiously Interfere with Contractual              

Relations Under Florida Law  -- Lack of Agreement and Concerted Action 

Bluegreen fails to allege and cannot prove a claim for “civil conspiracy to tortiously 

interfere with contractual relations” by Square One in Count V because it cannot establish that 

Square One entered into an agreement or engaged concerted action to tortiously interfere with any 
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Bluegreen Owners’ agreements.  The elements of a civil conspiracy are (a) an agreement between 

two or more parties, (b) to do an unlawful act or to do a lawful act by unlawful means, (c) the 

doing of some overt act in pursuance of the conspiracy, and (d) damage to plaintiff as a result of 

the acts performed pursuant to the conspiracy.   Bluegreen does not allege and cannot prove that 

Square One specifically agreed with or knowingly acted in concert with any Defendant, to instruct, 

induce, deceive, persuade, interfere, or otherwise cause any Bluegreen Owner to breach any 

contract with Bluegreen.   

    EIGHTH DEFENSE 

No Independent Civil Conspiracy to Tortiously Interfere with Contractual    

Relations Under Florida Law Because – Litigation Privilege 

In addition to the reasons set forth in Square One’s Sixth and Seventh Defenses, Bluegreen 

fails to allege and cannot prove a claim for “civil conspiracy to tortiously interfere with contractual 

relations” by Square One in Count V, because, to the extent Bluegreen’s conspiracy allegations 

are predicated on actions of the Montgomery Law Firm, LLC, Montgomery & Newcomb, LLC, 

W. Todd Newcomb, Esq., and M. Scott Montgomery, Esq., in their legal representation of 

Bluegreen Owners, the actions are protected by the litigation privilege and may not serve as the 

basis for tortious interference with contractual relations under Florida law.    

         NINTH DEFENSE 

    Withdrawal 

Square One denies that it was the party to any conspiracy of any kind, including any 

“conspiracy” to tortiously interfere with Bluegreen’s contractual relations with Bluegreen Owners.  

To the extent the Court finds there was any “conspiracy” as alleged in Count V, Square One 

withdrew on or before March 1, 2019, when it notified PTG and the Montgomery Law Defendants 
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that PTG had breached the October 2018 agreement between Square One and PTG, and Square 

One stopped referring its clients to PTG for timeshare exit services.  As a result, Square One is not 

liable for any alleged damages arising from the alleged “conspiracy” after it ended its withdrawal 

by ending its relationship with PTG.  

          TENTH DEFENSE 

        Failure to State a Claim for Punitive Damages – All Counts  

 Punitive damages are not available as a matter of law under the Lanham Act or FDUTPA, 

and Bluegreen’s Second Amended Complaint fails to allege, and Plaintiffs cannot prove, conduct 

by Square One to justify punitive damages under its “tortious interference with contractual 

relations” and “civil conspiracy” claims under Florida law.  Florida law limits punitive damages 

to cases in which a defendant’s conduct is outrageous, willful, wanton, and showing reckless 

indifference for the rights of others.  A claim for punitive damages must be dismissed or stricken 

from the complaint if the allegations do not present a factual basis supporting punitive damages, 

i.e. showing “wanton, willful, or outrageous conduct,” and that rises to truly culpable behavior for 

which punitive damages are required to express society’s collective outrage.  Bluegreen has not 

even alleged or provided evidence that Square One did any intentional act that caused it any 

damage, much less that Square One engaged in “wanton, willful, or outrageous conduct” that 

would allow a claim for punitive damages to proceed, much less support an award thereof.   

 

ELEVENTH DEFENSE 

      Unclean Hands – Injunctive Relief  

 Plaintiffs are barred from obtaining injunctive relief by the doctrine of unclean hands 

because all problems and damages they allege were and are the result of Plaintiffs’ own actions as 
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they have demonstrated a course of conduct and acted in a pattern of fraudulent and dishonest 

behavior towards their timeshare owners with respect to the dispute at issue in this case. Plaintiffs’ 

alleged injuries are the result of acts or omissions committed by them against their timeshare 

customers/owners, including but not limited to, their false, misleading, and fraudulent marketing 

tactics; and their own deceptive and unfair trade practices; not making destination 

accommodations available; charging excessive fees not referenced in the contract; failing to 

provide promised ancillary services such as cleaning and housekeeping; and illegally denying their 

consumers the ability to cancel their contracts, thereby causing and contributing to their dubious 

reputation with their own timeshare owners and prospective customers, as well as any injuries they 

allege they have incurred. 

TWELFTH  DEFENSE 

Estoppel 

Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the Doctrine of Estoppel.  Plaintiffs acted improperly by 

making false representations and/or concealing material facts from their customers, and are 

estopped from obtaining any monetary or other relief. Specifically, Plaintiffs’ alleged injuries are 

the result of acts or omissions committed by them against their timeshare customers/owners, 

including but not limited to, their false, misleading, and fraudulent marketing tactics; and their 

own deceptive and unfair trade practices; not making destination accommodations available; 

charging excessive fees not referenced in the contract; failing to provide promised ancillary 

services such as cleaning and housekeeping; and illegally denying their consumers the ability to 

cancel their contracts, thereby causing and contributing to their dubious reputation with their own 

timeshare owners and prospective customers, as well as any injuries they allege they have incurred.   

THIRTEENTH DEFENSE 
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    Failure to Mitigate 

 Plaintiffs are barred from recovery by the doctrine of mitigation because all the purported 

damages Plaintiffs claim could have been mitigated had Plaintiffs acted properly. Plaintiffs’ 

alleged injuries are the result of acts or omissions committed by them against their timeshare 

customers/owners, including but not limited to, their false, misleading, and fraudulent marketing 

tactics; and their own deceptive and unfair trade practices; not making destination 

accommodations available; charging excessive fees not referenced in the contract; failing to 

provide promised ancillary services such as cleaning and housekeeping; and illegally denying their 

consumers the ability to cancel their contracts, thereby causing and contributing to their dubious 

reputation with their own timeshare owners and prospective customers, as well as any injuries they 

allege they have incurred.  

FOURTEENTH  DEFENSE 

        First Amendment 

 Plaintiffs’ claims are unconstitutional as applied to Square One.  The actions and 

statements at issue made by Square One are absolutely protected by the First Amendment’s 

guarantee of freedom of speech.  Square One’s advertising is free speech which is protected by the 

First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America, including its right to 

comment on the disreputable sales and operating practices of the timeshare industry. 

 

FIFTHTEENTH DEFENSE 

  Truth  
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 Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the truth of the information disseminated and the fact that 

Square One’s statements are mere opinions of Square One.  Because Square One’s commentary is 

either literally true or merely its opinion(s), it is not actionable. 

SIXTEENTH DEFENSE 

Violation of Florida’s Anti-SLAPP Law 

 Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by Section 768.295, Florida Statutes (2017) (Florida’s “Anti-

SLAPP Statute”). The Anti-SLAPP Statute prohibits lawsuits (like this one) that attempt to curb 

the right of persons to exercise their constitutional rights of free speech in connection with a public 

issue, such as the abuses of the timeshare industry.  This lawsuit’s purpose is to hinder the spread 

and free flow of ideas and opinions on matters of public interest and concern, and Square One is 

entitled to final judgment under Section 768.295(4), Florida Statutes.  

    SEVENTEENTH DEFENSE 

Failure to State a Claim for Injunctive Relief 

 Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to state a claim for injunctive relief, because Plaintiffs do not 

have a substantial likelihood of prevailing on the merits; Plaintiffs cannot show that they will suffer 

irreparable injury; Plaintiffs have adequate remedies at law; and Plaintiffs cannot show that 

injunctive relief would promote the public interest.    

EIGHTEENTH DEFENSE     

             Third Party Causation  

Plaintiffs’ alleged injuries were partially or entirely caused by third parties whose actions 

are beyond the control of Square One.  Specifically, Plaintiffs allege throughout their complaint 

that Square One instructs, deceives, induces, or persuades Bluegreen Owners to stop making 

payments and thereby default under their Timeshare Contracts.  However, Square One does not 
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and never did instruct, deceive, induce, or persuade, or otherwise cause Bluegreen Owners to stop 

making payments.  To the extent any third party directed, persuaded, induced, or otherwise caused 

the defaults, this was done without Square One’s knowledge, consent, assent, direction, or 

approval.  Moreover, if any clients of Square One defaulted under any of their agreements with 

Bluegreen, they did so in violation of the specific provision of their Agreements with Square One 

which require that the timeshare owners remain current on all of their timeshare obligations.  

NINETEENTH DEFENSE 

Injunctive Relief Requested is Overbroad 

 Plaintiffs’ requested injunctive relief is excessive and overbroad, as Plaintiffs are seeking 

injunctive relief as a sword to prevent Square One from engaging in lawful business activities 

rather than to shield Plaintiffs from legitimate injury. 

TWENTIETH DEFENSE 

Privilege 

  Square One was acting as an agent of each of its clients (including under powers of 

attorney) and, hence, was a party to the contracts of its customers and, therefore, all of Square 

One’s actions were privileged. 

TWENTY FIRST DEFENSE 

                                                                 Business Justification 

 Square One acted within its rights, with just cause, in entering into the business relationship 

with its customers and therefore operated with business justification or privilege.  The relationships 

between Square One and its clients are based on their freedom of action, legitimate business 

competition, financial interest, responsibility for the welfare of another, directing business policy, 

and the giving of requested advice. 

Case 1:19-cv-24704-JEM   Document 74   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/14/2020   Page 35 of 36



36 
 

      TWENTY SECOND DEFENSE 

        Contracts Are Terminable At Will 

 Plaintiffs’ contracts with its Owners/Customers are terminable at will and only an 

expectancy of future economic gain, with no legal assurance that Bluegreen would realize the 

expected gain. Thus, Plaintiffs’ causes of action provide no protection from Square One’s mere 

permissible third-party intentional assistance to enable a disappointed individual or individuals to 

resolve a contract terminable at will.  

     JURY TRIAL DEMAND   

 Square One hereby demands a jury trial as to all issues triable by a jury. 

       Respectfully submitted, 

Dated:  December 14, 2020    DUBBIN & KRAVETZ, LLP 

 Samuel J. Dubbin, P.A. 

 Florida Bar No. 328189 

 1200 Anastasia Avenue, Ste. 300 

 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 

 Office Phone: (305) 357-9004  

 Cell Phone: (305) 815-8060  

 Email:  sdubbin@dubbinkravetz.com  

 

 

 By:  /s/ Samuel J. Dubbin, P.A. ____ 

  Samuel J. Dubbin, P.A. 

  Fla. Bar No. 328189 

       

Attorneys for Defendant Square One 

Development Group, Inc. 
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